
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

2015 ANNUAL REPORT



ABOUT THIS REPORT
tlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”) 

is pleased to present its first annual report since listing on the 

Stock Exchange of Mauritius Limited (“SEM”) on 25 March 2014 

and on the Alternative Exchange of the JSE Limited (“AltX”) 

on 3 April 2014. Our annual report has been prepared to 

provide stakeholders with an overview of our business model, 

performance, governance framework and practices, risks 

and opportunities. 

A

The information included in the annual report has been provided 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”), Mauritian Companies Act 2001, Financial Reporting Act 2004, 
Mauritian Securities Act 2005, SEM Listing Rules, JSE Listings 
Requirements, Integrated Reporting Framework (“the Framework”), 
and the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius, 2004 (“the Code”). 

This annual report covers the financial and non-financial information for 
the period from 1 March 2014 through 28 February 2015. 

APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL REPORT 
The Board of directors of Atlantic Leaf (“the Board”) acknowledges its 
responsibility to ensure the integrity of this report and confirm that all 
items identified as being material by the Board have been disclosed 
in this report. The Board has therefore approved the 2015 Annual Report 
for publication. 

On behalf of the Board

Peter Bacon Paul Leaf-Wright
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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The Company primarily invests in fixed property assets, 
which are held directly or through subsidiaries established 
in jurisdictions where doing so presents strong commercial 
rationale. From time to time, the Company also invests in listed 
real estate securities as a treasury management tool for the 
purposes of minimising the cash drag associated with cash 
holdings prior to investing in fixed properties.

The Company’s core geographical target market is the United 
Kingdom, but investments in other developed markets such 
as Western Europe, Scandinavia and Australia are also being 
considered. The Company conducts its business from Mauritius 
because of the business-friendly environment and the spread 
of double-tax agreements that Mauritius has with many of the 
jurisdictions that the Company invests in. Atlantic Leaf holds 
a category 1 Global Business License issued by the Financial 
Services Commission of Mauritius, and is the first pound 
sterling-denominated company to be listed on the SEM. 

tlantic Leaf is a Mauritian-incorporated company 

that has been established with the principal 

objective of investing in quality real estate assets 

that are income yielding with the prospect of 

capital appreciation. It is dual-listed on the SEM 

and on the AltX.

A
COMPANY PROFILE

Since incorporation on 11 November 2013, the Company has 
successfully raised £35 million by way of various private 
placements to invited investors and currently holds underlying 
property assets in excess of £50 million.

The Company’s group structure currently comprises three 
wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely: Seahawk Investments 
Limited, which holds the Company’s interests in the Booker 
Portfolio; ALP Guernsey Limited, which holds three additional 
properties; and ALF Guernsey Limited, which is a funding 
vehicle for the Company’s property acquisitions. Both ALP 
Guernsey Limited and ALF Guernsey Limited were acquired 
after the financial year end. In addition, the Company holds 
a portfolio of listed real estate securities.

Atlantic Leaf is led by a team of individuals with significant 
experience and successful track records in real estate and 
fund management.

MauritiusUnited Kingdom

Overview of Atlantic Leaf
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Acquisition of

two significant

property
portfolios

First pound

sterling-denominated

company

to list on the

SEM

Income return

8.1%
(excl. once-off costs)

Total underlying

property assets

>£50
million

Adjusted HEPS

8.28 pence
per share

Equity raised

£35
million
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PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

CURRENT
PORTFOLIO
To date the Company has acquired two 
significant property portfolios (albeit the 
second transaction was completed 
shortly after the financial year end, on 
3 March 2015). The portfolio acquisitions 
were secured with long-term leases in 
place and at income yields of 8.3% and 
7.3%, respectively.

The first acquisition saw Atlantic Leaf 
acquire Seahawk Investments Limited 
(“Seahawk”). Seahawk is an investment 
holding company which holds a 30% 
interest in a structure which in turn owns 
100% of a portfolio of 30 retail warehouse 
properties located in the United Kingdom, 
currently tenanted by Booker Group PLC 
(the “Booker Portfolio”). The Company 
also acquired certain debt securities 
related to the Booker Portfolio as part 
of the transaction. 

Booker Group PLC is the UK’s leading 
food wholesaler, offering branded and 
private-label goods to independent 
convenience stores, grocers, pubs, 
restaurants and hotels, and is listed 
on the London Stock Exchange. 
It operates from 172 locations 
in the UK and properties have been 
well maintained and upgraded by the 
tenant where appropriate to better 
accommodate their business. 

Scotland

South East

South West

Midlands

East

Yorkshire and the Humber

North East and West

27%

13%

10%

10%

7%

20%13%

GEOGRAPHICAL SPREAD 
OF PROPERTY LOCATIONS 
IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

Atlantic Leaf has established a strong property platform for future growth with a long-dated lease expiry profile, 

no vacancies, quality tenant covenants and attractive funding terms.

INVESTMENT CRITERIA
Atlantic Leaf’s strategy is to invest in high-quality real estate assets which deliver suitable returns through both income and capital 
growth that meet the following criteria:

• Quality and durable assets in a good locations

• Sustainable income flows with high existing and projected occupancy rates as well as tenant covenant strength

• Asset enhancement opportunities through active management, including new lettings, refurbishment and development

• Attractive yield spread between asset yields and fixed rate borrowing costs

Gross asset value

£86.0m
Net asset value

£30.5m

Debt

£55.5m
Atlantic Leaf interest

30%
Net rental income

£7.19m
LTV

65.6%
Forward income yield

8.4%
No. properties

30

Property type
Retail 
warehouse

Total GLA

1 746 074 sq ft

WALES

10.0 years
 to first break option

Tenant
Booker Group PLC
(LSE-listed)

BOOKER PROPERTIES

Minimum rent uplifts

Feb 2020: £8.9m 
Feb 2025: £10.1m

Rental escalations

Escalating every five 
years to greater of

13.1% 
 or market rent

The Booker Portfolio has many strategic 
asset management opportunities, which 
we anticipate will further enhance the 
portfolio’s performance.

4 Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited Annual Report 2015
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Subsequent to the financial year end the Company acquired 
its second property portfolio, previously known as the British 
Capital portfolio, for £23.0 million. Under the terms of the 
agreement, Atlantic Leaf acquired 100% of two subsidiaries 
namely ALP Guernsey Limited and ALF Guernsey Limited. 

 Brecon – Retail warehouse

 St Helens – Industrial distribution

 Wombourne – Industrial distribution

24
ENGLAND
1 714 496 SQ FT

8
SCOTLAND

271 175 SQ FT

1
WALES

26 300 SQ FT

Gross asset value

£5.7m

£7.0m

£10.1m

Debt

£3.2m

£3.8m

£4.6m

Net asset value

£2.5m

£3.2m

£5.5m

LTV

56.1%

54.3%

45.5%

Net rental income

£0.4m

£0.5m

£0.8m

Forward income yield

7.0%

7.1%

7.9%

Tenant

Homebase Ltd: part of Home Retail Group Plc, a 

leading home enhancement retailer listed on the LSE 

with a current market capitalisation of £1.5 billion. 

Experian rating of 100, implying very low risk of 

default. The lease covenant is provided by Home 

Retail Group.

Robert McBride Ltd: the UK trading company 

of McBride Plc, one of Europe’s leading providers 

of private label household and personal care 

products, listed on the LSE, with a current market 

capitalisation of £162 million. Experian rating of 97, 

implying very low risk of default. The lease covenant 

is provided by McBride Plc.

Spectrum Brands (UK) Ltd: subsidiary of Spectrum 

Brands Holdings, a global producer of diversified 

consumer products and brands including Russell 

Hobbs, Remington, George Foreman and Rayovac, 

listed on the NYSE with a current market capitalisation 

of almost $5 billion. Experian rating of 100, implying 

very low risk of default. The lease covenant is 

provided by Russell Hobbs Ltd.

Remaining lease term

13.0 years

9.5 years

15.5 years

 Minimum rent uplifts

Nov 2017: £0.5m

Apr 2019: £0.6m

Feb 2020: £0.9m

Total GLA

26 300 sq ft*

109 180 sq ft

130 417 sq ft

*  excl. garden centre 
of 7 000 sq ft and 
mezzanine of 8 750 sq ft

ALP Guernsey Limited owns three freehold commercial 
properties, two of these located in England and one in Wales, 
comprising of modern structures catering for warehousing 
facilities and retail. The properties are each single-tenanted, 
and all have long-term leases in place with quality tenants 
occupying the premises. 

Next rent review DATE and escalation

Nov 2017: Upwards only to market

Apr 2019: Upwards only to market 

Feb 2020: Upwards only to market 

2015
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Atlantic Leaf has 
appropriate 
structures and 
processes in place
to ensure that 
it complies with 
all the relevant 
requirements from
the different 
regulators and that 
all submissions are
made timeously and
comprehensively.

Atlantic Leaf 
provides all parties 
with applicable 
information via
circulars, SENS
announcements,
press releases, 
interim reports, and 
now with this first 
annual report. 
Additional 
information is 
available via the
Company’s website.

Constructive engagement 
with current and potential 
shareholders and funders help 
to raise our awareness of how 
we are managing material
strategic risks. In addition to
the means of communication 
described for all parties
shareholders are able to attend 
the AGM of the Company, or any 
other general meeting so called, 
and are entitled to vote on all 
matters arising at such 
meetings.

In order to 
understand the
needs of our tenants
we ensure that there
are clear means of 
communication
between the 
property managers
and tenants. The 
Company also
ensures there are
regular visits by our
property managers
and that action items
from these visits are
actioned timeously.

People are key to the success
of our business. We believe that 
maintaining a good relationship
with service providers is key to 
delivering quality output.

Atlantic Leaf aims to 
build and maintain 
relationships with a 
range of stakeholders 
in order to inform the 
business, adapt to and 
manage expectations 
and to continuously 
improve the alignment 
of interests between 
the Company and its 
key stakeholders. 
Stakeholder groups 
have been identified by 
a review of the extent 
to which they are 
either affected by the 
Company’s operations 
or to which they can 
influence the 
performance or 
strategic direction of 
the Company. 

2015Overview of Atlantic Leaf continued
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INTRODUCTION
We are pleased to report on our first year of trading – a year 
which has seen a number of key milestones achieved and laid 
a solid platform for growth. During this year, the Company listed 
on the SEM and AltX and successfully raised £35 million by 
way of various private placements to investors. The Company 
managed to conclude the acquisition of two significant property 
portfolios (albeit the second transaction was completed shortly 
after the financial year end, on 3 March 2015), which firmly beds 
down the strategy and has resulted in total underlying property 
assets exceeding £50 million as at the date of this report.

Our vision of growing Atlantic Leaf into a competitive property 
investment company is starting to gain strong momentum. We 
believe our track record of delivery and ability to execute 
timeously has made our investment proposition attractive to key 
market players and improved our reputation. 

CAPITAL RAISED
The Company has attempted to match the timing of its 
capital raisings with its funding requirements as far as possible, 
Details of each private placement have been included in the 
table below.

Date of private 
placement Issue price Capital raised

17/03/201417/03/2014 £1.00 £2.0m
03/04/201403/04/2014 £1.00 £3.3m
10/04/201410/04/2014 £1.00 £10.0m
30/10/201430/10/2014 £1.06 £13.3m
18/12/201418/12/2014 £1.06 £4.7m
25/02/201525/02/2015 £1.05* £1.8m

Total £35.0m

*  The private placement undertaken on 25 February 2015 represents the issue 
of shares to Atlantic Property Investments Limited (“APIL”), which was 
undertaken at an issue price equal to the weighted average price of the 
previous private placements plus accrued interest on the APIL funded carry. 
Please refer to page 17 and 39 for more information on the APIL funded carry.

STRATEGY
Our primary objective remains the acquisition of quality 
properties with secure long-term income and sound property 
fundamentals. We continue to pro-actively seek attractive 
opportunities in the high quality commercial, retail and office 
space which are capable of providing immediate value unlock 
and asset enhancing opportunities.

While our geographical focus will remain predominantly 
UK-based, we will continue to explore opportunities in 
developed markets such as Western Europe and Australia. 
The favourable interest rate environment along with attractive 
initial yields present strong commercial rationale for exploring 
opportunities in these regions.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD
The composition of our Board has continued to develop and 
expand over the past year. Mike Fienberg stepped down from 
the Board on 8 July 2014 due to other commitments. He was 
instrumental in the formation of the Company and his vast 
experience was highly appreciated. 

Peter Bacon was appointed as a non-executive director and 
Chairman of the Board on 8 July 2014, and Chairman of the 
Investment, Remuneration and Nomination Committees and his 
extensive experience has already provided valuable guidance 
and direction. Nick Winearls was appointed as a non-executive 
director on 8 July 2014 and is the Chairman of the Risk and 
Audit Committee. Specific to risk and audit matters, he has 
provided significant input and guidance and has played an 
important role in establishing a robust corporate governance 
framework. Cleo Folkes was the most recent appointment as 
non-executive director, being appointed on 19 November 2014, 
and is a member of the Investment Committee. Her direct 
experience in property investments in the UK is a significant 
added benefit. We believe the composition of our current Board 
will greatly assist us to grow.

OUTLOOK
The operating environment in the UK has been challenging over 
the past year due to the demand from sovereign wealth buyers 
continuously seeking real estate opportunities. We are pleased 
with our ability to leverage our networks to conclude off-market 
transactions and it remains a key competitive advantage for the 
Company. We believe Atlantic Leaf is well positioned to execute 
on its strategy and to grow significantly in the next twelve 
months. There is strong appetite from the investor community 
for Atlantic Leaf’s investment proposition, and the attractive 
hard currency yield spreads offered in the jurisdictions we 
operate in, bode well for strong income returns. 

Our biggest driver is performance and delivering earnings 
growth which is always a challenge in the early stages of a 
company. Despite the “cash drag” on the capital raised during 
the year, we are very pleased with the performance of the 

REPORT TO THE 
STAKEHOLDERS
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Company. The Company has identified a number of key 
acquisitions which are currently being evaluated and we 
anticipate at least two of these to be executed in the first half 
of the 2016 financial year. The strong pipeline of assets into 
which capital will be deployed are expected to mitigate the risk 
of future “cash drag” and positively impact our returns.

We are beginning to see transactional pressure in the UK due 
to aggressive pricing and substantial demand which continues 
to push property prices higher. Even though this presents 
certain challenges in finding opportunities where the intrinsic 
property values are supported by the acquisition price, we are 
confident that we will be able to source attractive opportunities 
through our networks and relationships as well as broadening 
our investment target regions to Western Europe and Australia. 
Through these networks, we have already established a full 
pipeline of opportunities, and a key objective for the year ahead 
will be executing on this pipeline. 

We are aiming to broaden our shareholder base and raise more 
capital which we expect will increase the liquidity of our shares. 
Considering the current growth phase that the Company is in, 
we anticipate undertaking multiple capital raises in order to match 
the timing of our funding requirements which will also allow 
investors to invest at appropriate times for their requirements. 

Another important objective of the Company is to commence 
distributions to shareholders, which management believes is 
achievable. Key to achieving this will be establishing critical 
mass in the Company’s property portfolio in order for it to start 
benefiting from economies of scale.

In closing, we would like to express our gratitude to both our 
founding and new investors for the support and faith that has 
been shown in Atlantic Leaf. We have laid a strong platform for 
growth in our first year of trading, but it is important to continue 
to capitalise on that base. We look forward to a year of achieving 
our stated objectives and many new key milestones. 

“Our vision of growing Atlantic Leaf into a competitive property 

investment company is starting to gain strong momentum.”

From Left to Right: Paul Leaf-Wright, Shaun Fourie, Warren Morton

2015



OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT
Intercontinental Trust Limited (“ITL”) is the duly appointed 
company administrator in Mauritius for Atlantic Leaf. ITL and 
associated companies provide various operations management, 
company secretarial, finance and accounting services. 

ASSET AND PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
The Company has also entered into a property service 
agreement with an external service provider, Martial Eagle 
Limited (“Martial Eagle”), in terms of which Martial Eagle will 
provide certain services in relation to the Company’s property 
investments in return for a fee payable by the Company or a 
nominated subsidiary. Martial Eagle in turn subcontracts and 
facilitates the procurement of certain asset management and 
property management services from various service providers.

To date, Martial Eagle has appointed Leaf Capital (Pty) Ltd, a 
South African-based advisory company, to provide advice and 
recommendations in respect of sourcing and evaluating property 
acquisitions and providing strategic advice in respect of asset 
and portfolio enhancement opportunities.

ORGANISATIONAL 
REVIEW

In the UK, Orbit Property Managers has been contracted to 
provide day-to-day administration for each of the properties. 
Martial Eagle will seek to appoint similarly reputable property 
managers on behalf of the Company in each of the jurisdictions 
in which it acquires properties.

Subsequent to the listings of the Company’s shares on the SEM 
and AltX, the directors have renegotiated with Martial Eagle a 
more competitive property service fee which will result in a 
decrease in the fee payable from 0.8% to 0.5% of gross 
property assets. The transaction fees will be revised to 0.5% 
of gross asset value, capped at £0.15 million per transaction, 
such fees only being payable until the Company’s assets reach 
£500 million. These changes to the fee structure are expected 
to be effective from 1 June 2015, and are believed to be more 
market-related. 

10 Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited Annual Report 2015



Revenue for the year ended 28 February 2015 was 

£1.9 million and the Company delivered profit for the year 

of £1.4 million. The majority of expenses during the year 

under review comprised listing fees, transaction costs 

and related service provider expenses. Refer to the 

Organisational Review section on page 10 for more 

information on related costs. 

Adjusted headline earnings when excluding once-off costs were 
8.28 pence per share which is based on the weighted average 
number of shares and this translated to a return on average 
equity of 8.1%. In a ‘normalised’ year, in which capital is more 
fully deployed in property assets over the period, it is expected 
that returns would be higher. 

Due to the fact that our investments are currently held as 
investment entities, the value created at a property level is 
reflected as a fair value gain in the financials. The UK property 
market has continued to see reductions in property yields, in 
line with downward shifts in the UK yield curve, resulting in 
increased property valuations. The combination of rental 
escalations of 13.1% on our Booker portfolio and UK yield 
reductions have contributed to an unrealised gain on the 
investment in Seahawk being recognised during the period 
under review, bringing the fair value gain from this investment 
to £1.4 million.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Gearing has been incorporated at a property asset level to 
enhance returns to shareholders. In the case of both property 
portfolios acquired to date, the existing debt arrangements have 
been acquired as part of the transactions. Management is in the 
process of refinancing all debt facilities, which will be completed 
before the end of 2015. Following the refinancing, management 
expects the level of gearing to be at the Company’s target 
gearing levels of between 50% – 55% (LTV). Indicative terms 
from debt providers suggest the Company will achieve cost of 
debt at between 3.5% – 4.5% fixed for 5 years, which is more 
favourable than existing terms and will further enhance 
performance. The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge 
its interest rate risk, and the Board has adopted a policy 
whereby at least 75% of all interest-bearing debt is hedged.

We are very pleased with the performance of the Company 
considering that this was our first year of operation. Returns 
were impacted by the “cash drag” on the capital raised during 
the year, a consequence of the UK property market that typically 
requires cash availability before entering negotiations. The strong 
pipeline of assets into which capital will be deployed in the first 
half of the 2016 financial year, is expected to positively impact 
our returns.

The Directors have decided not to declare a dividend in the 2015 
financial year as the Company is in a growth phase. It is a stated 
objective of the Board to declare dividends in the 2016 financial 
year and to increase the distributions as the Company grows.

“We are very pleased with the performance of the Company 

considering that this was our first year of operation.”

 11

2015
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MEMBERS
OF THE BOARD 

Paul Leaf-Wright (53)

Chief Executive Officer

SOUTH AFRICAN

CA (SA)CA (SA)

Years of service: 1st year

Date of appointment: 8 July 2014

Other listed company directorships: 2 

Years of service: 2nd year

Date of appointment: 11 November 2013

Years of service: 2nd year

Date of appointment: 21 February 2014

Years of service: 1st year

Date of appointment: 19 November 2014

BRITISH

National Diploma in Hotel Keeping National Diploma in Hotel Keeping 
and Catering; Stanford Executive and Catering; Stanford Executive 
ProgrammeProgramme

Peter was appointed independent 

non-executive director and Chairman 

of Atlantic Leaf from 8 July 2014. Peter 

has over 35 years’ experience in the 

hospitality, resorts and gaming industry. 

He is currently a non-executive director 

of Sun International Holdings and 

previously served as an executive 

director of Sun International’s board from 

1994 and as the group’s Chief Executive 

from 1994 until 2006. Peter also serves 

as a director of Woolworths Holdings 

Limited. In addition, he previously served 

as Chairman of each of the National Sea 

Rescue Institute (until August 2014), 

Cape Town Routes Unlimited and the 

Tourism Grading Council Awards 

Committee.

Paul has over 25 years of property and 

financial services experience. He 

established Leaf Capital in 2004, 

together with Jacqui Hathorn. Paul 

completed his articles and qualified as 

a Chartered Accountant at Deloitte and 

Touche in 1986. He subsequently held 

various roles in NBS Bank and BoE 

(subsequently Nedbank Ltd) which 

included financial and strategy director, 

head of treasury, director of property 

and asset finance, and head of wealth 

management. During his years in the 

banking sector his roles included running 

the bank’s private equity division, 

co-ordinating mergers and acquisitions 

of both bank and third party deals, 

establishment of BEE companies and 

funding of a wide range of projects. 

Paul has also served on the boards of 

a number of listed companies.

Warren qualified as a Chartered 

Accountant in 1997. He holds a Bachelor 

of Commerce degree with Honours in 

Accountancy from the University of 

South Africa. Warren also completed a 

Master of Commerce degree in Taxation 

from the University of the Witwatersrand 

in 2007. Warren completed his Articles 

in 1993. He has 20 years of working 

experience of which most has been in 

the Financial Services Industry with 

significant experience in Investment 

Banking as well as Fund Management 

and Administration. His roles have, 

amongst other senior positions included 

Chief Operating Officer of RMB’s 

Investment Banking Division, as well as 

Group Financial Director at Oryx 

Investment Management and Equinox. 

After graduating in 2005 with a 

distinction in Veterinary Medicine, Cleo 

spent 3 years in private small animal 

practice as a Veterinary Surgeon with an 

active role in the business management. 

Since joining Folkes Holdings Ltd in 2009 

Cleo has quickly risen up the ranks from 

Business Development to Director of 

Operations to her current position as 

Deputy Chairman. She holds active 

positions on the boards of all the Folkes 

Holding Group companies; both 

engineering and property and additionally 

holds a Directorship and alternate 

Directorship on the boards of two private 

South African property funds. Cleo also 

actively participates in the Young 

Investors Organisation which is a global 

network of next generation leaders.

Peter Bacon (68)

Independent Non-Executive 

Chairman

Warren Morton (45)

Financial Director 

SOUTH AFRICAN

CA (SA), B Compt, B Compt (Hons), CA (SA), B Compt, B Compt (Hons), 
M Com TaxationM Com Taxation

Cleopatra Folkes (33)

Independent Non-Executive 

Director 

BRITISH

BVSc MRCVS (Veterinary Surgeon BVSc MRCVS (Veterinary Surgeon 
(UK))(UK))
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Years of service: 1st year

Date of appointment: 8 July 2014 

Years of service: 2nd year

Date of appointment: 11 November 2013

Years of service: 2nd year

Date of appointment: 11 November 2013

Other listed company directorships: 2 

Cape Town born Nick Winearls started 

his professional career in 1975 at The 

Board of Executors (later rebranded as 

BoE) in Cape Town, with responsibility 

for the structuring of the affairs of high 

net worth clients both domestically and 

internationally. In 1987, he emigrated with 

his family to the Isle of Man to join 

accountants Touche Ross and Co in their 

newly established Offshore Department 

dealing extensively with IPO’s. In 1999, he 

re-joined BoE to establish and head up 

their international trust company in the 

Isle of Man. In 2009, he moved to 

Monaco following his appointment as a 

Director of independent trust company 

Landmark Management SAM, where, in 

addition to his executive responsibilities, 

he manages a portfolio of globally based 

structures for clients.

Kesaven Moothoosamy joined the fund 

administration department of ITL in 

2005. He is currently a Senior Manager in 

this department and oversees the 

operations division such as incorporation 

of funds, advising on fund structures and 

regulatory matters, review of fund 

documents and fund accounting.

He has experience with listing of global 

business companies on the Stock 

Exchange of Mauritius and currently 

also supervise the listing division of ITL. 

He is a board member of a number of 

funds established in Mauritius.

Kesaven graduated from the University 

of Mauritius with a BSc (Hons) in 

Accounting with Information System and 

is a fellow of the Association of 

Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA). 

He is also a member of the Mauritius 

Institute of Professional Accountants 

(MIPA) and a member of the Mauritius 

Institute of Directors (MIoD).

Yan Ng is an executive director of ITL. 

He specialises in the structuring and 

administration of investment funds and 

listed companies. He is a board member 

of a number of funds and listed 

companies in Mauritius. He was 

previously with Baker Tilly Mauritius and 

Deloitte in Luxembourg and was trained 

as a chartered accountant in London. 

He is a member of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants in England & 

Wales and of the Society of Trust and 

Estate Practitioners. He was the 

treasurer of the International Fiscal 

Association (Mauritius branch) and an 

executive committee member of the 

Association of Trust and Management 

companies in Mauritius. Yan graduated 

from the University of Mauritius (BSc 

(Hons)) with a degree in Management 

and achieved a Masters in Finance (MSc) 

from Lancaster University.

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin (40)

Non-Executive Director 

Nick Winearls (62)

Independent Non-Executive 

Director 

BRITISH

Kesaven Moothoosamy (32)

Non-Executive Director 

MAURITIAN

BSc, FCCABSc, FCCA

MAURITIAN

BSc, FCA, TEP BSc, FCA, TEP 

2015
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REVIEW

he promotion of good governance is a fundamental principle underlying the organisation’s decisions and 

actions and is applied throughout the business. The Board supports and is committed to achieving and 

maintaining the highest standard of corporate governance, by following principles of transparency, integrity 

and accountability. Accordingly the directors have established mechanisms and policies appropriate to the 

company’s business that are in line with best practice in corporate governance to ensure compliance with 

The Code in Mauritius. Even though the Company is not required to comply with King III, the underlying 

principles serve as a guideline for good governance. The Board reviews these mechanisms and policies from 

time to time to ensure that the controls in place address the business needs and the latest developments 

in governance practices. 

t

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for the overall strategic direction of 
the Company and for preparing a robust control framework. 
Such a framework establishes the policies, guidelines and 
benchmarks for a system of internal controls including the 
monitoring and reviewing of reporting presented to the Board 
and its sub-committees and delegation of authority through 
an approval framework. The Board meets at least four times 
a year to review the performance of the Company and take 
strategic decisions.

The Board appraises the Chairperson’s performance and ability 
to add value to the Company on an annual or such other basis 
as the Board may determine. The independent directors appraise 
the performance of the CEO at least annually. The first appraisal 
of the Board will be done during the 2016 financial year.

COMPOSITION OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Atlantic Leaf reviews the composition of the board, to determine 
if the appropriate skills and experience are available and to 
improve the structures that are in place. 

The Board made several appointments during the past financial 
year which has strengthened the Board and given it access 
to range of additional skills and experience in line with the 
Company’s strategic objectives. Profiles of the Board members 
can be found on page 12 and 13.

The number of Board members is commensurate with the size 
of the Company and currently comprises two executive 

directors and five non-executive directors, of whom three are 
considered independent. The Chairperson is an independent 
non-executive director whose role is separate from that of the 
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). Nick Winearls also serves as a 
common director on two of the Company’s subsidiaries being 
ALP Guernsey Limited and ALF Guernsey Limited.

All material contracts which the Company enters into require 
approval by the Board. The Board ensures that there is an 
appropriate balance of power and authority within the Board, 
such that no one individual or block of individuals dominates the 
Board’s decision-taking. In addition, the Board has established a 
procedure for directors, in furtherance of their duties, to take 
independent professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s 
expense. All directors have access to the advice and services of 
the Company Secretary. 

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board is assisted in the performance of its duties by three 
subcommittees, a Risk and Audit Committee, a Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee, and an Investment Committee. 
The Board is conscious of the fact that such delegation of duties 
is not an abdication of the Board members’ responsibilities. 
The various committees’ terms of reference shall be reviewed 
annually. The composition of each committee, and the 
attendance of each member at committee meetings, is 
indicated in the table below.

External advisors and executive directors who are not members 
of specific committees may attend committee meetings by 
invitation, if deemed appropriate by the relevant committees 
and where such attendance would be of benefit to the committee.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS DURING THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW
Sub-committees3

Director Title1

Date of
appointment Board2 Risk and Audit

Remuneration 
and Nomination Investment

P BaconP Bacon INED 8 Jul 2014 3/3* 2/2* 2/2*
N WinearlsN Winearls INED 8 Jul 2014 3/3 2/2*
C FolkesC Folkes INED 19 Nov 2014 1/1 1/1
Y NgY Ng NED 11 Nov 2013 3/3 3/3
K MoothoosamyK Moothoosamy NED 11 Nov 2013 3/3 3/3
P Leaf-WrightP Leaf-Wright ED 11 Nov 2013 3/3 2/2 2/2
W MortonW Morton ED 21 Feb 2014 3/3 3/35

M FienbergM Fienberg4 INED 21 Feb 2014 1/1 1/1

Notes:
* Denotes chairmanship of committee indicated
1 INED = Independent Non-Executive Director; NED = Non-Executive Director; ED = Executive Director
2  It is the Company’s policy to hold at least four Board meetings per year. As the Company only commenced trading after the commencement of the financial year 

under review, only three meetings were held.
3  All appointments/resignations to the Board sub-committees were made on the date of appointment/resignation to/from the Board, with the exception of 

Cleo Folkes, whose appointment to the Investment Committee was made on 12 Jan 2015.
4 Michael Fienberg resigned from the Board on 8 July 2014.
5 Attended by invitation.

RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
The role of the Risk and Audit Committee has been codified in 
the committee’s charter which has been approved by the Board 
during the 2015 financial year. This charter has been aligned with 
the requirements of the Code, Mauritian Companies Act 2001 
and King III. The Risk and Audit Committee assists the Board 
by providing oversight of the financial reporting process, 
systems of internal control, risk management, effectiveness 
of external audit process and compliance with legislation and 
regulatory requirements.

The committee evaluates the annual financial statements 
and make recommendations to the Board for their approval. 
The Committee reviews accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of financial statements and the basis for significant 
estimates and judgements. 

The Committee is satisfied that the financial director, Warren 
Morton, is sufficiently competent and that the finance function 
has adequate resources and sufficient expertise. The 
Committee evaluated the independence and objectivity of the 
external auditor and recommended the fees payable. The 
Committee also satisfied itself that there has not been any 
breakdown in internal controls during the period under review 
as a result of effective risk management. Refer to the Risk 
Report on page 18 for business risks identified.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s responsibilities 
and duties are governed by a charter that was reviewed and 
approved by the Board during the 2015 financial year.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is mandated 
by the Board inter alia to:

• set the remuneration and incentives of all employees (if any);

• recommend directors’ fees payable to executive and non-
executive directors and members of Board sub-committees;

• identify suitable candidates to be appointed to the Board;

• ensure there is a succession plan in place for key management;

• assess the independence of non-executive directors; and to

• assess the composition of the Board committees.

Further details of the Company’s remuneration policy and 
remuneration paid to all directors are provided in the 
Remuneration Report on page 18.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Investment Committee’s responsibilities and duties are 
governed by a charter that was reviewed and approved by the 
Board during the 2015 financial year. 

All acquisitions, disposals and capital expenditure decisions are 
considered and approved or rejected by the Investment 
Committee. In performing its duties, the Investment Committee 
considers proposals from management and where necessary 
these proposals are supported by:

• external independent valuations;

• legal advice and due diligence; and

• funding and gearing levels on each investment.

The committee is also guided by the Company’s investment policy 
and mandate, and evaluates the overall portfolio for inter alia:

• concentration risk;

• lease renewals; and

• performance of existing investments.

Material decisions are recommended to the Board for final approval.

2015
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DEALING IN SHARES BY THE DIRECTORS
Dealing in the Company’s shares by directors and Company 
officers is regulated and monitored as required by the SEM 
Listing Rules and JSE Listing Requirements. The directors 
confirm that they have followed the absolute prohibition 
principles and notification requirements of the model code for 
securities transactions by directors as detailed in Appendix 6 
of the Mauritius SEM Listing Rules. Trading in the Company’s 
shares by directors requires prior written approval by the 
Chairman of the Board. Atlantic Leaf maintains a closed period 
from the end of a financial period to the date of publication of 
the financial results for that period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2015

Director
Direct

interest
Indirect
interest

Total
interest

P BaconP Bacon – – –

N WinearlsN Winearls – – –

C FolkesC Folkes – – –

Y NgY Ng – – –

K MoothoosamyK Moothoosamy – – –

P Leaf-Wright*P Leaf-Wright* – 3.9% 3.9%

W MortonW Morton – – –

* 1 335 502 shares 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
A list of directors’ interests are maintained by the Company 
and the updated list is certified by the directors at each Board 
meeting. Directors recuse themselves from any discussions 
and decisions in which they have any financial interest. All 
related party transactions are set out in note 13 to the Annual 
Financial Statements.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY
ITL, in its capacity as Company Secretary, provides the Board of 
Directors with detailed guidance as to how their responsibilities 
should be properly discharged in the best interest of the Company. 
In addition, the company secretary provides guidance on statutory 
duties of the Board of Directors and the regulatory requirements 
of the Company.

The Company Secretary is subject to an annual evaluation by 
the Board. 

INTERNAL AUDIT
Given its current structure and the nature and the volume of the 
transactions involved, the Company does not have an internal 
audit department.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The auditors do not, except as external auditors or in rendering 
permitted non-audit services (further details of which are 
provided below), receive any remuneration or other benefit from 
the Company.

Audit and audit-related services are defined by the Company as 
follows:

• Services necessary to perform an audit including without 
limitation internal control procedures; and

• Regulatory audits – defined as those audits where the auditor 
is required to give an opinion in relation to a filing with any 
regulatory authority.

Non-audit services are defined by the Company as any other 
service provided by the auditor not included above.

During the period since incorporation, the Company has 
contracted Mazars, the independent auditor of the Company, to 
provide non-audit services. During this period, the Company was 
party to a number of substantial events and transactions which 
required the use of an assurance provider. These events and 
transactions include, without limitation: listing on the SEM; 
listing on the Alternative Exchange of the JSE; and acquisition 
of Seahawk.

For this reason, Mazars has performed significantly more 
non-audit services during the 2015 financial year, than would 
typically be expected going forward. Given that this was an 
exceptional year and the fact that Mazars maintains a high 
standard of governance to ensure the audit team is independent, 
it is the Board’s opinion that the auditors’ independence was not 
impaired by any consultancy, advisory or other non-audit work 
undertaken. Details of fees paid or expected to be paid to 
Mazars during 2015 financial year are provided below.

Services Fees (£)

Non-audit servicesNon-audit services 13 720
Audit fees for the year ended 28 February 2014Audit fees for the year ended 28 February 2014 1 728
Expected audit fees for the year ended Expected audit fees for the year ended 
28 February 201528 February 2015 12 000

Total 27 448

The auditors, Mazars have indicated their willingness to continue 
in office and a resolution concerning their re-appointment 
will be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Shareholders in accordance with Section 200 of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001.

Corporate Governance Review continued
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DIVIDEND POLICY 
It is the intention of the Company to distribute the majority of 
its net income to shareholders on a bi-annual basis, with the 
approval of the Board.

SUSTAINABILITY
As a company, Atlantic Leaf is committed to sustainable practices 
and will seek to implement such practices and principles in its 
operations as the opportunity arises. Under the terms of the existing 
leases in place for the Company’s current property portfolio, the 
tenant is responsible for the buildings and for improving operational 
efficiencies at property sites. When opportunities arise Atlantic Leaf 
will remain conscious of the potential measures that can be taken 
to reduce the social and environmental impact of its properties. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS AND RELATED 
PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company has entered into a property service agreement 
with Martial Eagle, as detailed on page 42 of the Annual 
Financial Statements.

In addition, the Company has entered into a facility agreement 
with Atlantic Property Investments Limited (“APIL”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Martial Eagle, in terms of which the Company 
provides debt funding to APIL to subscribe for up to 5% of the 
issued shares of the Company. Further details of the facility 
agreement have been included on page 39 of the Annual 
Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE 
AND INDEMNIFICATION
The Directors and officers of Atlantic Leaf benefit from an 
indemnity insurance cover for liabilities incurred while 
performing the duties to the extent permitted by law. 

OTHER MATTERS
• There are no clauses of the Company’s constitution which 

have been deemed material enough for separate disclosure;

• Atlantic Leaf currently has no specific code of ethics in place, 
but the Board is committed to the highest standards of integrity 
and ethical conduct in dealing with all its shareholders and 
thus relies on the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius 
and King III in South Africa to guide its approach in this regard.

• Details of significant shareholders in the Company have been 
included on page 48;

• The Company does not have an employee share option 
scheme;

• No charitable or political donations have been granted during 
the period;

• On 4 June 2014, a special resolution was passed by the 
shareholders of the Company to adopt a new Constitution. 
There were no other special resolutions passed during the 
financial year; 

• There are no agreements in place with any shareholders that 
affect the governance of the Board or give rise to undue 
influence on its operations.

2015
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REMUNERATION REPORT

he Board bears ultimate responsibility for the remuneration policy. The Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee has been mandated by the Board to approve the remuneration policy and to authorise the 

remuneration and incentives of directors. The Company does not have any employees at present and 

therefore no related policy is required yet.
t

Executive Directors Paul Leaf-Wright and Warren Morton are 
representatives of the Martial Eagle and accordingly will not be 
remunerated separately for their services as directors of the 
Company. The Company has service contracts in place for 
non-executive directors and they are remunerated in the form 
of an annual fee. The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
recommends fees for non-executive directors to the Board, 
which is approved by shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting (“AGM”). There is no other form of remuneration paid 
to non-executive directors.

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin and Kesaven Moothoosamy are 
appointees of ITL, the Company’s administrator, and will 
accordingly will not be remunerated separately for their 
services as non-executive directors of the Company. 

The year ended 28 February 2015 was the first year in which 
the Company remunerated non-executive directors, as per the 
table below:

Directors fees for the year
ended 28 February 2015

£

Peter BaconPeter Bacon 6 667

Nick Winearls Nick Winearls 6 667

Cleopatra Folkes Cleopatra Folkes 2 500

Michael FienbergMichael Fienberg 10 000*

*  Mr. Fienberg was paid a higher fee due to the additional time required to 
review and oversee the listing process and related documentation.

RISK REPORT

he Board places an emphasis on creating and maintaining a strong control environment to enable effective 

risk management. The Board assumes overall responsibility for an effective risk management process and is 

assisted by the Risk and Audit Committee. Management is responsible for identifying risks and establishing 

internal controls and processes designed to mitigate these risks.
t

The Risk and Audit Committee reviews management’s risk plan and communicates the plan and actions adopted to the Board. 
The Company has, in all material aspects, acted in accordance with the risk management plan adopted during the year. 

A number of factors may affect the result of operations, financial condition and prospects of the Company. The following risk 
factors are considered by the Board to be material. 

Key risks Business impact Mitigating controls and actions

Investment riskInvestment risk • Acquiring properties and assets for more 
than fair market value;

• Losses on value of listed property portfolio 
due to market fluctuations;

• Reduction of distribution yields.

• Undertake comprehensive due diligence investigations when acquiring 
properties;

• Incorporate ‘margin of safety’ in acquisition price as far as possible;

• Avoid ‘chasing’ yields and focus on assets with sound property 
fundamentals;

• Adhere to investment policy and mandates;

• Leverage networks and relationships to source property opportunities 
off-market where possible;

• Manage properties with significant potential for yield enhancement and 
capital growth.

Corporate Governance continued
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Key risks Business impact Mitigating controls and actions

Currency riskCurrency risk • Income for the period is reduced due to 
adverse foreign exchange fluctuations.

• Match currencies of property income, expenses and liabilities (e.g. debt 
repayments and debt servicing costs) as far as possible and where 
commercially viable; 

• Hedge exposure to currency fluctuations through use of derivative 
instruments where no natural hedges available and where risk is deemed 
to be material.

Interest rate riskInterest rate risk • Income for the period is reduced due to 
increase in cost of borrowing.

• Hedge exposure to interest rate fluctuations through use of derivative 
instruments;

• Continuous monitoring and management of credit metrics and financial 
ratios;

• Maintain gearing ratios in accordance with targeted policy and within 
covenants agreed with lenders.

Liquidity riskLiquidity risk • Inability to pay expenses and/or liabilities 
as they fall due; 

• Inability to execute property acquisitions 
and thus reducing distribution yields.

• Continuously manage cash flows via accurate forecasts of cash 
requirements and monitor actual cash flows and any deviations from 
forecasts;

• Proactive management of the Company’s debt maturity profile;

• Proactive treasury management and monitoring of bank accounts and 
deposit and revolving credit facilities.

Tenant riskTenant risk • Loss of revenue and potentially loss of 
property value;

• Reduction in distribution yield

• Comprehensive tenant due diligence undertaken;

• Acquire properties with existing tenants and lease covenants with strong 
financial standing and credit ratings, and with tenants which have 
occupied the premises for lengthy period of time;

• Procure revenue protection via insurance where applicable.

Business Business 
continuity riskcontinuity risk

• Loss of important management 
information, significant operational 
disruptions including for example delays 
in billing and collections in revenue or 
payment of expenditure resulting in tenant 
queries and inaccurate reporting, which 
may lead to reduction in distribution yields.

• Administration and property management processes are sub-contracted 
to reputable and reliable service providers who adopt effective processes 
to mitigate the risk of operational disruptions at their business. 

• Atlantic Leaf has confirmed such controls with its existing service 
providers and requires details of business continuity plans and policies for 
all new vendors.

Reputational risksReputational risks • Reputation tarnished and returns 
to shareholders reduced;

• Reduced ability to raise capital and/or 
increased cost of capital.

• Strict adherence to investment mandate and investment policy;

• Undertake comprehensive due diligence investigations when entering into 
new contracts or markets;

• Strict adherence to corporate governance policy and in line with best 
practice of our country of incorporation and the markets in which it invests;

• Maintain appropriate and timely communications and disclosures to all 
stakeholders;

• Adherence to related party transaction protocol in place and appropriate 
and timely disclosure of all related party transactions.

Legal and Legal and 
compliance riskscompliance risks

• Potential non-compliance with any 
regulatory requirements may result 
in reputational risk, possible penalties, 
censures, loss of licenses, defaults 
on leases and/or debt facilities.

• Regular interaction and dialogue with regulatory bodies including 
exchanges, company registrars, financial service commissions, and 
taxation authorities;

• Quarterly monitoring and reporting of the compliance function by the 
company secretary and service providers;

• New legislation monitoring through ongoing dialogue with external legal 
advisors and employment of a reputable company secretary.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY AND COMPLIANCE 
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”) are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements, comprising the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as at 28 February 2015, the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001.

The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe the 
business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
The annual financial statements of the Company have been approved by the Board of directors on 21 May 2015.

Signed on behalf of the Board by

Peter Bacon Paul Leaf-Wright 
Chairman  Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
We, the Directors of Atlantic Leaf, confirm to the best of our knowledge that this Public Interest Entity has complied with all of its 
obligations and requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) under Section 75 (3) of the Financial Reporting 
Act for the period 1 March 2014 to 28 February 2015.

Peter Bacon Paul Leaf-Wright
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

21 May 2015

COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE
We certify to the best of our knowledge and belief that Atlantic Leaf has filed with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are 
required of the Company under Section 166 (d) of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 for the year ended 28 February 2015.

Intercontinental Trust Limited
Company Secretary

21 May 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE 
MEMBERS OF ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements 
of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“the Company”) which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 28 February 
2015, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes set out on 
pages 24 to 47.  

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements which are in 
accordance with and comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, which give a true and fair view of the 
matters to which they relate, and which present fairly the 
financial position of the Company at 28 February 2015 and its 
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year ended on that date.

This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgement, including the assessment of risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate to the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 24 to 47 give 
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company 
at 28 February 2015 and its financial performance, changes 
in equity and cash flow for the year ended on that date in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and comply with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
COMPANIES ACT 2001
The Mauritius Companies Act 2001 requires that in carrying 
out our audit we consider and report to you on the following 
matters. We confirm that:

a)  we have no relationship with or interests in the Company 
other than in our capacity as auditors;

b)  we have obtained all the information and explanations we 
have required; and

c)  in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept 
by the Company as far as appears from our examination 
of those records.

THE FINANCIAL REPORTING ACT 2004
The directors are responsible for preparing the corporate 
governance report. Our responsibility is to report the extent 
of compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance 
(the “Code”) as disclosed in the annual report and on whether 
the disclosure is consistent with the requirements of the Code. 
In our opinion, the disclosure in the annual report is consistent 
with the requirements of the Code.

OTHER MATTERS 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and 
only the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 205 of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, 
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

 
Udaysingh Taukoordass Mazars
Licensed by FRC

21 May 2015
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 28 February 2015

Notes

For the year
ended

28 February
2015
GBP 

For the period
ended

28 February
2014
GBP

INCOME
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 1 691 031 –
Interest income 21 598 –
Dividend income 33 509 –
Foreign exchange gain 118 150 –

 1 864 288 –

EXPENSES
Operating expenses 12 (272 580) –
Property service fees (182 099) –
Audit fees (10 928) –
Director fees (25 833) –

 (491 440) –

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1 372 848
Taxation 4 (9 042) –

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD 1 363 806 –

Other comprehensive income – –

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD 1 363 806 –

Weighted average number of shares in issue 14 18 930 998 1 000
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (GBP pence)* 7.20 –
Adjusted headline earnings per share from continuing operations (GBP pence)* 15 8.28 –

* Atlantic Leaf has no dilutionary instruments in issue

The notes on pages 28 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 28 February 2015

Notes

As at
28 February

2015
GBP

As at
28 February 

2014
GBP

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 5 13 652 211 –
Escrow account – held for investment acquisition 6 10 813 467 –
Loan receivable 7 1 790 319 –

26 255 997 –

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 8 321 134 –
Cash and cash equivalents 9 9 686 551 1 000

10 007 685 1 000

TOTAL ASSETS 36 263 682 1 000

EQUITIES AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 10 34 770 873 1 000
Retained earnings 1 363 806 –

36 134 679 1 000

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 129 003 –

TOTAL EQUITIES AND LIABILITIES 36 263 682 1 000

The notes on pages 28 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 28 February 2015

Share
capital

GBP

Retained
earnings

GBP

Total
equity

GBP

At 11 November 2013 – – – 
Issue of shares 1 000 – 1 000 
Total comprehensive income for the period – – – 

At 28 February 2014 1 000 – 1 000 

Issue of shares 34 769 873 – 34 769 873
Total comprehensive income for the year – 1 363 806 1 363 806

At 28 February 2015 34 770 873 1 363 806 36 134 679

The notes on pages 28 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 28 February 2015

Notes

Year ended
28 February

2015
GBP

Period ended
28 February

2014
GBP

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 1 372 848 –
Adjustments for:
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 (1 691 031) –
Foreign exchange gain (118 150) –
Dividend income (33 509) –
Interest income (21 598) –

(491 440) –

Changes in working capital
Increase in trade and other receivables (321 134) –
Increase in trade and other payables 129 003 –

Net cash used in operations (683 571) –
Interest received 21 598 –
Tax paid 4 (9 042) –

Net cash used in operating activities (671 015) –

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of listed investments 5 (987 017) –
Acquisition of investment in Seahawk Investments Limited 5 (11 535 219) –
Payment to Escrow Account 6 (10 813 467) –
Loan to Atlantic Property Investments Limited 7 (1 790 319) –
Repayment of loan by Seahawk Investments Limited 5 561 056 –
Dividends received 33 509 –

Net cash used in investing activities (24 531 457) –

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares 10 34 769 873 1 000

Net cash generated from financing activities 34 769 873 1 000

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 9 567 401 1 000

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year/period 1 000 –
Effects of exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents 118 150 –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/period 9 686 551 1 000

The notes on pages 28 to 47 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 28 February 2015

1. LEGAL FORM AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
  Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated on 11 November 2013 in the Republic of Mauritius 

as a public company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies Act 2001. The Company holds a Category 1 
Global Business Licence under the Financial Services Act 2007 and is regulated by the Financial Services Commission. 
Its registered office is Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201, Mauritius.

  The Company has a primary listing on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”) and a secondary listing on the Alternative 
Exchange of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”). The principal activity of the Company is to invest in high quality, 
investment grade real estate assets and companies which deliver suitable returns for investors through both income and 
capital growth.

  The Company is managed by Martial Eagle Limited, a company registered in Mauritius, and holding a Category 1 Global 
Business License.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
  The financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). 

  The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value.

  The financial statements are presented in pound sterling (“£” or “GBP’’) and all values are rounded to the nearest pound, 
except when otherwise indicated. 

  The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the directors to exercise their judgement in the 
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used that are 
significant to the financial statements and areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity are disclosed in Note 3.

A. NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED BY THE COMPANY
 New standards and interpretations effective in the reporting period
  There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on 

01 March 2014 which had a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

  Amendments to standards and interpretations effective in the reporting period
  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following new 

and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations adopted in the year commencing 1 March 2014:

  Amendments to IAS 36, ‘Impairment of assets’, on the recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets. This amendment 
removed certain disclosures of the recoverable amount of CGUs which had been included in IAS 36 by the issue of IFRS 13. 

  Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 27 
Separate Financial Statements. These amendments mean that many funds and similar entities are now exempt from 
consolidating most of their subsidiaries. Instead, they will measure them at fair value through profit or loss. The amendments 
give an exception to entities that meet an ‘investment entity’ definition and which display particular characteristics. Changes 
have also been made IFRS 12 to introduce disclosures that an investment entity needs to make. 

  Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’ on offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. This amendment 
clarifies that the right of set-off must not be contingent on a future event. It must also be legally enforceable for all counterparties 
in the normal course of business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The amendment also considers 
settlement mechanisms. The amendment did not have a significant effect on the Company’s financial statements.

  IFRIC 21, ‘Levies’, sets out the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy if that liability is within the scope of IAS 37 ‘Provisions’. 
The interpretation addresses what the obligating event is that gives rise to pay a levy and when a liability should be recognised. 
The Company is not currently subjected to significant levies so the impact on the Company is not material.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION CONTINUED

A. NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED BY THE COMPANY CONTINUED

  Other standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective for the financial period beginning on 1 March 2014 are 
not material to the Company.

B. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

  The following standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective. They are 
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on the specified dates, but the Company has not early adopted them:

 New or revised standards Effective for accounting period beginning on or after
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2017

 Amendments
 IAS 11 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 1 January 2016
 IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Consolidation exemption 1 January 2016
 Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle 1 January 2016
 IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016

  The Company is still evaluating the effect of these new or revised standards and interpretations on the presentation of its 
financial statements.

2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(i) Classification
  The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition into the following categories, in 

accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 The category of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss is sub-divided into:

•  Financial assets and liabilities held for trading: financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling and/or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes equities, debentures and other interest 
bearing investments and derivatives. These assets are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from 
short-term fluctuations in price. The Company’s policy is not to apply hedge accounting for this type of investment.

•  Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition: these include investment 
in subsidiaries. These financial assets are designated upon initial recognition on the basis that they are part of a group of 
financial assets which are managed and have their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with risk 
management and investment strategies of the Company, as set out in the Company’s offering document.

•   Investment in subsidiaries: In accordance with the exception under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, the 
Company does not consolidate subsidiaries in the financial statements. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for 
as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. The exception is applicable for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2014 (refer to Note 3 (i)).

  Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market.

(ii) Financial assets – Initial recognition and measurement
  Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

  All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
A. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

(ii) Financial assets – Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

  Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

  The Company’s financial assets include financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans receivables.

 Subsequent measurement
  The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as set out below:

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value 

through profit or loss. 

  After initial measurement, the Company measures financial instruments which are classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are recorded in net gain or 
loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest and dividend earned on these instruments are recorded 
separately in interest income and dividend income.

 Loan and receivables
  After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest rate 

method (EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in profit or loss. 
The losses arising from impairment are recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets – Derecognition
  A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

derecognised when:

•   The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; and

•   The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

  When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.

  In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay.

(iv) Impairment of financial assets
  The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 

financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
(an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the 
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or 
a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is 
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults.
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
(v) Financial liabilities – Initial recognition and measurement
  Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Company 
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

  All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs.

 The Company’s financial liabilities include payables. 

(vi) Financial liabilities – Subsequent measurement
 Loans and borrowings
  After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fee or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or loss.

(vii) Financial liabilities – Derecognition
  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit 
or loss.

(viii) Offsetting of financial instruments
  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, 

and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(ix) Fair value of financial instruments
  The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference 

to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without 
any deduction for transaction costs.

  For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. 
Such techniques may include:

•  Using recent arm’s length market transactions;

•  Reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; and

•  A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

 An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 5.

B. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS
 Functional and presentation currency
  The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in GBP for the benefit of its shareholders. 

The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly GBP denominated. The Company’s 
performance is evaluated in GBP. Therefore management considers GBP as the currency that most faithfully represents the 
economic effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. Therefore the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency is the GBP.
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
B. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS CONTINUED

 Transactions and balances
  Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. Gains 

and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when 
the fair value was determined. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses on financial instruments classified at fair value 
through profit or loss are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as part of the ‘net gain 
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’.

C. REVENUE RECOGNITION
  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue 

can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. 

 The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

 Interest income
  Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all interest – bearing 

financial instruments using the EIR.

 Dividend income
 Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established.

D. EXPENSE RECOGNITION
 All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

E. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
  Cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash at bank. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For the purpose 
of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank.

F. PROVISIONS
  Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to 
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 

  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost.

G. INTEREST EXPENSE
  Interest expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all interest-bearing 

financial instruments using the EIR.
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
H. CURRENT INCOME TAX
  Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 

or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and generates taxable income. 

  Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of profit 
or loss. The Company periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable 
tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

I. DEFERRED TAX
  Deferred tax is provided in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Currently enacted tax rates are used to determine 
deferred tax.

  The principal temporary difference arises from tax losses carried forward. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused temporary differences can be utilised.

J. OPERATING SEGMENTS
  A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged in providing services (business segment) or in 

providing services within a particular economic environment (geographic segment), which is subject to risks and returns that 
are different from those of other segments. The Company’s primary segment is based on business segments.

  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the board. The board reviews the Company’s internal 
reporting in order to assess performance. Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports.

  Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of Company 
revenue and expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment. Segmental assets comprise those assets 
that are directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

K. RELATED PARTIES
  For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Company if they have the ability, 

directly or indirectly, to control or jointly-control the Company or exercise significant influence over the Company in making 
financial and operating decisions, or vice-versa, or where the Company is subject to common control or common significant 
influence or where the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Company. Related parties may be 
individuals or other entities.

L. SHARE CAPITAL
  Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 

as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

M. EARNINGS PER SHARE
  The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share. It also presents adjusted headline and diluted headline 

earnings per share.

  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders by the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year. Headline earnings per share is calculated by dividing headline earnings by the 
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
  The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and 
judgements of facts at the reporting date, the actual outcome may differ from those estimates.

  These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and any future periods.

 JUDGEMENTS 
  In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements which 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(i) Assessment as investment entity
  The amendment to IFRS 10 Investment Entities requires entities that meet the definition of an investment entity to apply 

the exception from consolidation and instead account for its investments in subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. 
The Company undertook an assessment and concluded that it is an investment entity as follows:

•   There are currently 8 shareholders/investors which use the investment management services of the Company. For 
disclosure of related parties which hold an interest in the Company refer to note 7. With future capital raisings it is 
envisioned that this percentage shareholding will dilute further.

• Ownership interest in the Company are in form of equity shares and which are exposed to variables returns from changes 
in fair value of the Company’s net assets.

• The Company regularly reports to its investors, and to its management, via internal management reports, on a fair value 
basis. All investments are reported at fair value to the extent allowed by IFRS in the Company’s annual reports.

•   The Company has invested in listed equities and indirect property via an investment in Seahawk Investments Limited (“Seahawk”), 
which is an equity investment in a company which holds interests in an underlying property portfolio. Going forward, the Company 
may invest in companies which hold property portfolios or may acquire properties directly (no equity interest).

•   The Company has committed to investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital 
appreciation and investment income, this was communicated via its pre-listing statements.

•  The Company has a clearly documented exist strategy for all its investments.

  The Board has concluded that the Company meets the definition of an investment entity. These conclusions will be 
reassessed on an annual basis, if any of these criteria or characteristics change. 

(ii) Determination of functional currency
  The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in GBP for the benefit of its shareholder. 

The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly GBP denominated. The Company’s 
performance is evaluated in GBP. Therefore management considers GBP as the currency that most faithfully represents 
the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS CONTINUED

 ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
   The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have 

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below.

(i) Fair value of financial instruments
  When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived 

from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. 
The judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and volatility. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments (refer to Note 5 for fair value disclosure).

(ii) Taxes
  The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide 

provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
The Company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. 
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

4. TAXATION
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Corporate tax – –
Withholding and transaction tax 9 042 –

9 042 –

 CORPORATE TAXATION
  The Company being the holder of a Category 1, Global Business Licence, is classified as a tax incentive company and under 

current laws and regulations is liable to pay income tax on its profits, as adjusted for tax purposes, at the rate of 15%. 
The Company is however entitled to a tax credit equivalent to the higher of actual foreign tax suffered or 80% of the 
Mauritian tax payable in respect of its foreign source income, thus reducing its maximum effective tax rate to 3%. 
Gains or profits from the sale of units of securities by a company holding a Category 1 Global Business Licence under 
the Financial Services Act 2007 are exempt for tax purposes in Mauritius.

  At 28 February 2015, the Company had accumulated tax losses of GBP249 434 (2014 – Nil) and is therefore not liable to pay tax. 
The tax losses are available for set off against future taxable profits of the Company as follows:

Up to year ending GBP

28 February 2020 249 434

 The foregoing is based on current interpretations and practice and is subject to any future changes in Mauritian tax laws.
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4. TAXATION CONTINUED
 Corporate tax reconciliation
  A numerical reconciliation between the profit before tax for the year/period and the actual corporate income tax charge is 

shown below.

2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Profit before tax 1 372 848 –

Tax calculated at the rate of 15% 205 927 –
Income not subject to tax (270 162) –
Non tax deductible expenses 26 820 –
Unutilised tax loss for the current year 37 415 –

Actual income tax charge – –

 Deferred tax
  A deferred tax asset of GBP7 483 has not been recognised in respect of the tax loss carried forward as the Board of directors 

considers that it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

 TRANSACTION TAX
  The Company pays transaction tax on the listed portfolio. The tax rates are dependent on the primary exchange of each 

transaction. The indicative tax rates are as follows:

 UK tax rate 0.5% on purchases

 French tax rate 0.2% on purchases

  WITHHOLDING TAX
  Withholding tax is charged on dividends declared from the listed portfolio in the United Kingdom. Withholding tax rate for the 

year ended 28 February 2015 is 20%.

5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
 As at 28 February 2015, the following financial instruments were carried at fair value in the statement of financial position: 

Name of investee company
Nature of

activity
Number and

type of shares
%

Holding
Fair value

GBP

Unquoted investments:
Seahawk Investment

holding
100 Ordinary

shares
100% 12 417 292
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5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS CONTINUED
 Quoted investments
  Listed security investments are categorised as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. The fair values of the 

listed security investments are determined based on quoted prices in active markets. The list of investments are provided below:

 The following table indicates the Company’s investment holdings by market value as at 28 February 2015:

Name of investee company Sector
Number of

ordinary shares
Fair value

(GBP)

Derwent London Plc Property investment 3 300 110 550
Hammerson Plc Property investment 17 900 120 915
Klepierre Property investment 8 814 279 390
Land Securities Group Plc Property investment 9 500 119 320
SEGRO Plc Property investment 43 000 185 115
British Land Company Limited Property investment 22 000 182 270
Unibail Rodamco Property investment 1 270 237 359

1 234 919

  Changes in fair values are recorded in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and none of the 
financial assets are impaired.

 FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
  The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 

technique:

 Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

  Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 
indirectly observable.

  Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

As at 28 February 2015
2015
GBP

Level 1
GBP

Level 2
GBP

Level 3
GBP

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss:
Investment in equity shares 13 652 211 1 234 919 – 12 417 292

 TRANSFERS BETWEEN LEVELS
 There was no transfer between fair value hierarchy during the year.
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5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS CONTINUED
 RECONCILIATION OF RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
  The Company carries quoted and unquoted equity shares classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss instruments.

  A reconciliation of the beginning and closing balances including movements of investment in equity classified as 
Level 1 and 3 within the fair value hierarchy is summarised below:

2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Level 1:
At the start of year/period – –
Additions during the year/period 987 017 –
Net unrealised changes in fair value 247 902 –

At end of year/period 1 234 919 –

Level 3:
Investment in Seahawk 10 972 604 –
Loan receivable from Seahawk 1 444 688 –

12 417 292 –

13 652 211 –

Investment in Seahawk
At the start of year/period – –
Additions during the year/period 11 535 219 –
Loan granted to Seahawk (2 005 744)
Net unrealised changes in fair value 1 443 129 –

At end of year/period 10 972 604 –

Seahawk is an investment holding incorporated in the Isle of Man. Seahawk holds a 30% interest in a portfolio of 30 retail 
warehouse properties located in the United Kingdom, currently tenanted by Booker Group PLC (the “Booker Portfolio”). 
The acquisition is in line with the Company’s primary objective of investing in quality, investment grade real estate assets 
and companies which deliver suitable returns for investors through both income and capital growth.

2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Loan receivable from Seahawk:
At the start of year/period – –
Loan granted during the year/period 2 005 744 –
Repayments during the year/period (561 056) –

At end of year/period 1 444 688 –

  The loan is interest free, unsecured and with no fixed terms of repayment. The loan receivable has been accounted for as 
part of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as it was included in the purchase consideration of GBP11 535 219 
for the acquisition of Seahawk.
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5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS CONTINUED
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Net gain on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Level 1:
Quoted investments 247 902 –

Level 3:
Unquoted investments – Seahawk 1 443 129 –

Total 1 691 031 –

 VALUATION TECHNIQUES
 Unquoted equity investments
  The Company invests in an entity which is not quoted in an active market. At year end the Company had one such 

investment which was valued using a discounted cash flow model and approved by the Board on 15 April 2015. This is 
a market based valuation technique for these positions. A sensitivity analysis based on the exposure to the discount rate and 
terminal growth rate can be found in note 16.

   The fair value of unquoted equity shares held by the Company is determined as its proportion of the investee company’s 
shareholder equity or net asset value.

  The Board of directors has appointed Leaf Capital (Pty) Ltd, the corporate advisor to perform the valuation of unquoted 
investments. The valuation is reviewed by the Investment Committee and approved by the Board. 

 On a quarterly basis, the Board monitors the performance of the Company’s investments.

6. ESCROW ACCOUNT – HELD FOR INVESTMENT ACQUISITION
  As discussed in note 18, the Company acquired a portfolio of three commercial properties (via ALP Guernsey Limited) 

in the United Kingdom. The transaction was finalised on 03 March 2015 and as at 28 February 2015, the purchase price 
of GBP 10.8 million was paid in an Escrow Account held with a third party.

7. LOAN RECEIVABLE
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Loan due from related party
Atlantic Properties Investments Limited 1 790 319 –

 ATLANTIC PROPERTIES INVESTMENTS LIMITED (“APIL”)
  APIL is a special purpose vehicle wholly-owned by Martial Eagle Limited (“Martial Eagle”), the management company. As per 

the signed Property Service Agreement (“PSA”), Martial Eagle has a right to subscribe for up to 5% of the shares in Atlantic 
Leaf, which it has done via APIL. The loan to APIL is made through a facility agreement dated 23 February 2015 and bears 
interest of LIBOR on the day prior to the issue date of the individual loan plus 3%. The Company has issued shares to APIL 
in respect of each individual loan. As collateral security to secure the repayment of each individual loan, APIL has agreed to 
pledge those shares. All repayments to be made by APIL in respect of each individual loan are to be funded by distributions 
from Atlantic Leaf.
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8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Prepayments 4 501 –
Amount receivable from related party (Refer to note 13(iii)) 40 100 –
Amount receivable from third party (for acquisition of the ALP Guernsey Portfolio) 276 533 –

321 134 –

 FAIR VALUE OF TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
 The fair value of trade and other receivables is considered by management to approximate their carrying values.

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash at bank 9 686 551 1 000

10. SHARE CAPITAL
2015

Number
of shares

2015
GBP

2014
Number

of shares
2014
GBP

Issued share capital
At end of year/period 33 941 306 34 770 873 1 000 1 000

At start of the year/period 1 000 1 000 1 000 –
Issue of shares during the year/period 33 940 306 34 769 873 – 1 000

At end of year/period 33 941 306 34 770 873 1 000 1 000

  The share capital of the Company comprises 33 941 306 ordinary shares as at 28 February 2015 (2014 – 1 000 ordinary shares).

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Accruals 29 131 –
Amount due to related party (Refer to note 13(iv)) 99 872 –

129 003 –

 FAIR VALUE OF TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
 The fair value of trade and other payables is considered by management to approximate their carrying values.
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12. OPERATING EXPENSES
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Professional fees 222 627 –
Listing fees 29 526 –
Travelling expenses 7 631 –
Custody fees 4 872 –
Brokerage charges 3 500 –
Bank charges 1 855 –
Insurance costs 1 603 –
Commission 966 –

272 580 –

13. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
  During the year under review, the Company entered into transactions with related parties. The nature, volume of transactions 

and the balances with these entities are as follows:

2015
GBP

2014
GBP

(i) Loan receivable from Seahawk
At start of the year/period – –
Loan granted during the year/period 2 005 743 –
Repayment of loan during the year/period (561 055)

At end of year/period 1 444 688 –

Seahawk is wholly owned by the Company.
Refer to note 5 for terms and conditions of the loan.

(ii) Loan receivable from Atlantic Properties Investments Limited
At start of the year/period – –
Loan granted during the year/period 1 790 319 –

At end of year/period 1 790 319 –

Refer to note 7 for terms and conditions of the loan receivable.

(iii) Amount receivable from related party – Ananya Holdings Limited
At start of the year/period – –
Funds received for acquisition of shares in Seahawk 40 100 –

At end of year/period 40 100 –

Ananya Holdings Limited is a financing company partly held by Seahawk. 
The amount due is unsecured, interest free and receivable on demand. 
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13. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

(iv) Amount due to related party – Martial Eagle Limited
At start of the year/period – –
Property service fees 182 099 –
Specified expenses 43 993 –
Share issue costs capitalised 30 439 –
Payments (156 567) –
Foreign exchange differences (92) –

At end of year/period 99 872 –

The amount due is unsecured, interest free and payable on demand. Per the PSA a 
property service fee of 0.8% of assets under management, amongst others, is paid to 
Martial Eagle. Each party will be entitled to terminate the PSA with 60 days’ written notice. 

(v) Corporate advisor – Leaf Capital (Pty) Ltd (Leaf Capital)
Advisory fees attributable to Leaf Capital for the year/period 166 985 –

(vi) Directors remuneration – short term 25 833 –

 TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
 Paul Stanbrook Leaf-Wright is also a director of Leaf Capital, the corporate advisor of the Company.

  Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin is a director in Intercontinental Trust Limited, the Company’s Administrator and Company Secretary.

  All transactions were entered into in the normal course of business. The Company does not have any employees and the 
day to day administration of the Company is outsourced to the Administrator.

14. EARNINGS AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
  The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 28 February 2015 is based on the income attributable to 

ordinary equity holders of GBP1 363 806 and the weighted average of 18 930 998 ordinary shares in issue during the year. 
The Company has no dilutionary instruments in issue.

  The weighted average number of shares for the purpose of calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share is 
presented below:

Issue dates Events
Number

of shares

Weighted
average number

of shares
in issue

2015
01/03/2014 Opening balance 1 000 66
25/03/2014 Private placement 2 000 000 49 339
03/04/2014 Private placement 3 293 583 116 046
11/04/2014 Private placement 10 000 000 8 464 399
30/10/2014 Private placement 12 560 269 3 052 587
09/12/2014 Private placement 4 389 389 7 155 571
28/02/2015 Private placement 1 697 065 92 990

28/02/2015 Year end 33 941 306 18 930 998

2014
11/11/2013 Company incorporation 1 000 1 000

28/02/2014 Period end 1 000 1 000
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15. RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Total comprehensive income for the year/period 1 363 806 –
Adjusted for once-off costs:
Listing and advisory fees 47 722 –
Seahawk transaction costs 140 151 –
Foreign exchange loss specifically relating to once-off costs 16 392 –

Adjusted headline earnings 1 568 071 –

  The calculation of basic headline earnings per share for the year ended 28 February 2015 is based on headline earnings 
of GBP1.4 million (2014 – Nil) and the weighted average of 18 903 998 (2014 – 1 000) ordinary shares in issue during the
year/period. The Company has no dilutionary instruments in issue. There were no reconciling items to the income for the 
year/period attributable to equity holders to reach the headline earnings. 

  Adjusted headline earnings per share is disclosed for further information. The calculation of adjusted headline earnings per 
share for the year ended 28 February 2015 is based on adjusted headline earnings of GBP1.6 million (2014 – Nil) and the 
weighted average of 18 903 998 (2014 – 1 000) ordinary shares in issue during the year/period.

16. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
  The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the 

Company’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject 
to risk limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the Company’s continuing profitability.

 RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
  The Board of the Company has set up a Risk and Audit Committee (the “Committee”) to assist the Board in discharging 

its responsibilities relating to:

•  The safeguarding of the Company’s assets;

•  The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls;

•   The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto;

•   The qualification, independence, performance and fees of the External Auditors of the Company;

•  The performance and fees of Internal Audit as an internal assurance provider;

•  The Company’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements; and

•  An assessment of service providers, including, but not limited to, the Company Administrator and the Company’s 
Advisor; and

•  An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the company and investee companies.

 RISK MEASUREMENT AND REPORTING SYSTEM
  The Committee will examine and review the annual financial statements, the interim reports, the accompanying reports to 

shareholders, the preliminary announcement of results and any other announcement regarding the Company’s results or 
other financial information to be made public, prior to submission and approval by the Board.

  Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily set up to be performed based on limits established by the Board of Directors. 
These limits reflect the business strategy including the risk that the Company is willing to accept and the market 
environment of the Company. In addition, the Company monitors and measures the overall risk in relation to the 
aggregate risk exposure across all risks types and activities.
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16. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES CONTINUED
 NEW TRANSACTION APPROVAL
  As per the Company’s Constitution, the Company also has an Investment Committee (“IC”). The IC assesses the risk/return 

profile of proposed investments before recommendation to the Board. All new transactions need to be recommended by 
the IC before being considered by the Board for final approval.

 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
  The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which includes currency risk and interest 

rate risk), equity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s 
financial performance.

 MARKET RISK
 Equity price risk
  Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of equities as the result of changes in the value 

of individual shares. The Company is exposed to equity price risk because of uncertainties about future prices of the 
investments held at fair value through profit or loss. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, 
the Company targets underlying real estate assets with demonstrated and sustainable income streams with little or no 
development risk.

  The sensitivity analysis below is based on the exposure to the discount rate and terminal growth rate at year end. 
A 50 basis points increase or decrease in the discount rate and a 25 basis points increase or decrease in terminal 
growth rates represents management’s reasonable assessment of the possible change in market rates:

  The following table summarises the information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Discount rate 0.75% 1.00% 1.25%

8.00%         11 609 463         11 860 679         12 130 505 
8.50%         10 762 193         10 972 604         11 197 526 
9.00%         10 017 725         10 195 519         10 384 783 

 Currency risk
  Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities, and those of its underlying investee companies are predominantly 
denominated in GBP which is the Company’s functional currency and the Company is therefore not materially exposed 
to any foreign currency risk.

  However, within the investee companies, there may be a foreign currency risk in the underlying investments as these 
may in some cases derive income in their respective local currencies. Favourable fair value changes to the Company 
may therefore also be dependent on favourable changes to foreign exchange rates in the underlying investments.

  The Company has financial assets and liabilities denominated in Euro (“EUR”) and South African Rand (“ZAR”). 
Consequently, the Company is exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of the GBP relative to the EUR and ZAR may 
change in a manner which has a material effect on the reported values of the Company’s assets and liabilities which 
are denominated in EUR and ZAR.



45

2015

Annual Report 2015 

16. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES CONTINUED
 MARKET RISK CONTINUED

 Currency profile
 The currency profile of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:

Financial
assets

2015
GBP

Financial
liabilities

2015
GBP

Financial
assets

2014
GBP

Financial
liabilities

2014
GBP

GBP 35 986 113 127 935 1 000 –
EUR 175 624 266 – –
ZAR 97 444 802 – –

36 259 181 129 003 1 000 –

 Prepayments amounting to GBP 4 501 are excluded from the financial assets as at 28 February 2015.

 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
  The table below details the Company’s sensitivity analysis to 5% increase/(decrease) in the GBP against the EUR and ZAR. 

5% is used as the sensitivity rate as it represents management’s assessment of the reasonable possible change in foreign 
exchange rates. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Increase/
(decrease) in

exchange rates

2015
Effect on

equity
GBP

2014
Effect on

equity
GBP

EUR 5% 8 768 –
(5%) (8 768) –

ZAR 5% 4 832 –
(5%) (4 832) –

 Interest rate risk
  The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalents and the loan to APIL, which bears interest at a 

variable rate.

 Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
  The impact of the change in interest rate (+/– 50 basis points) on profit before tax is as follows:

2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Cash and cash equivalent 48 433 –
Loan to APIL 8 952 –
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16. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES CONTINUED
 CREDIT RISK
  The Company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty, will be unable to meet its obligations 

under a financial instrument or contract leading to a financial loss.

 The maximum exposure to credit risk at year end was:

  
2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Loan to Seahawk 1 444 688 1 000
Cash at bank 9 686 551 1 000
Loan receivable 1 790 319 –
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 316 633 –

Total 13 238 191 1 000

  As disclosed in Note 5, the Company acquired a 30 % interest in a portfolio of 30 retail warehouse properties located in the 
United Kingdom, through Seahawk Investments Limited. This portfolio is currently tenanted by Booker Group PLC (“Booker”). 
The directors consider that the risk of default by Booker, as the counterparty, is low due to its strong financial standing and 
credit rating and its financial performance are constantly monitored by the Company. 

  There is no significant credit risk associated with the cash at bank since the Company maintains bank accounts with 
reputable financial institutions. As such, directors believe exposure to credit risk to be minimal. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial position. 

 As regards the loan receivable, APIL has pledged the shares it holds in the Company as security (see Note 7).

 LIQUIDITY RISK
  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Company’s reputation. Liquidity risk is managed by having adequate facilities or by having sufficient cash.

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 28 February 2015 based on 
contractual undiscounted payments:

At 28 February 2015

Less than
1 year
GBP

Total
GBP

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 129 003 129 003

 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
  The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in 

order to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce cost of capital. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions.
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16. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES CONTINUED
 FAIR VALUES
  Except where stated elsewhere, the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate 

their fair values.

2015
GBP

2014
GBP

Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets
Loans and receivables (excluding prepayments)1 22 606 970 1 000
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss* 13 652 211 –

36 259 181 1 000

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost2 129 003 –

 * Included in financial assets through profit and loss is the investment in Seahawk, as disclosed in note 5.
 1 Loans and receivables include: Cash and cash equivalents, loan receivable and other receivables.
 2 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include: other payables and accrued expenses.

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION
  For management purposes, the Company is organised into one main operating segment, which invests in quality real estate 

assets and companies that are income yielding with the prospect of capital appreciation. All significant operating decisions 
are based upon analysis of the Company as one segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the 
financial statements of the Company as a whole.

18. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
  On 3 March 2015 the Company acquired a portfolio of three commercial properties in the United Kingdom at a gross 

property value of GBP23.0 million inclusive of transaction costs. The properties are located in Brecon, St. Helens and 
Wombourne, and collectively generate GBP1.7 million in annual rental income, representing a gross initial yield of 7.3% 
(post-transaction costs). 

   The net cash consideration payable by the Company for the properties was approximately GBP10.8 million including costs, 
and an expected return on equity of 9.9% could be achieved based on the Company taking over the existing debt facilities. 
As recorded on the statement of financial position the purchase price had already been paid into an Escrow account and 
is reflected as a non-current asset at the year end.

  The directors of the Company are not aware of other events occurring between the reporting date and the date of approval 
of the financial statements that may require any adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.

19. COMPARATIVES
  The current year figures are for the 12 months ended 28 February 2015 and the comparatives are for the period from 

11 November 2013 to 28 February 2014 (approximately 4 months). Therefore the figures in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statement of cash flows and related notes are not comparable. 
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SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS
All capital raised by the Company to date has been undertaken via private placements to a limited number of invited investors only, 
resulting in the shares being predominantly held by a group of long-term shareholders. This has resulted in limited liquidity in the 
trading of the Company’s shares. Low liquidity can lead to volatility in a security’s share price. Management intends to raise further 
capital in the 2016 financial year, during which the Company is expected to broaden its shareholder base which in turn should 
improve the liquidity of the Company’s shares. 

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more of the Company’s issued shares as at 28 February 2015

Shareholder name % shareholding

Sentinel Retirement Fund 68.7%

LCIP (Pty) Ltd 11.9%

The Golden Hind Partnership 8.2%

Atlantic Property Investments Limited 5.0%

FACT SHEET
Company name Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

Company registration number 119492 C1/GBL

Registered address Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity
Ebène 72201
Mauritius

Website www.atlanticleaf.mu

Company Secretary Intercontinental Trust Limited

Financial year – end date 28 February

Date of incorporation 11 November 2013

Date of listing on SEM 25 March 2014

Date of listing on JSE 3 April 2014

ISIN MU0422N00009

SEM share code ALPL.N0000

JSE share code ALP

Shares in issue at 28 February 2015 33 941 306
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following table presents a glossary of terms used throughout this Annual Report:

Term Definition

AGM Annual General Meeting

AltX Alternative Exchange of the JSE Limited

APIL Atlantic Property Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Martial Eagle

Atlantic Leaf Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (also referred to as “the Company”).

CDS Central Depository and Settlement Company Limited

The Code Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius, 2004

CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant

EPS Earnings Per Share, calculated as profit for the period attributable to shareholders of Atlantic Leaf divided 
by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the period

GLA Gross Lettable Area, the amount of floor space available for rental in a commercial property

HEPS Headline Earnings Per Share, a measure of an entity’s financial performance, the calculation and publication 
of which is a requirement of JSE-listed companies

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

ITL Intercontinental Trust Limited, the Company administrator for Atlantic Leaf in Mauritius

JSE JSE Limited

King III King Code of Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2009

LTV Loan To Value, the ratio of attributable debt to the market value of an investment property 

SEM Stock Exchange of Mauritius Limited

WALE Weighted average lease expiry

COMPANY DIARY
Key events Date

Financial year end 28 February 2015

Publication of financial results on the JSE and SEM 20 April 2015

Distribution of Annual Report and Notice of Annual General Meeting 21 May 2015

Annual General Meeting 12 June 2015

FY2016 first quarter end 31 May 2015

Announcement of FY2016 first quarter results (provisional date) 13 July 2015
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
OF SHAREHOLDERS

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5:
THAT fees to be paid by the Company to the independent 
non-executive directors for their services as directors of up to 
£15 0001 per independent non-executive director per year of 
service or a pro rata share thereof be approved;

1  The final amount payable will be determined based on the actual level of 

involvement of non-executive directors taking into account the corporate 

activity during the year and will not exceed £15 000.

RESOLUTION NUMBER 6:
THAT, subject to the provisions of the Mauritian Companies Act 
2001, the SEM Listing Rules and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
the authorised but unissued shares of the Company be and are 
hereby placed under the control of the Board of Directors of the 
Company, with the authority to allot or issue all or part thereof at 
their discretion;

RESOLUTION NUMBER 7:
THAT, subject to the provisions of the Mauritian Companies Act 
2001, the SEM Listing Rules and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
and pursuant to inter alia the Company’s Constitution, the Board 
of Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to allot 
and issue additional shares of the Company for cash, until this 
authority lapses which shall be at the next Annual General Meeting 
or 15 months from the date hereof, whichever is the earliest, and 
which authority is subject to the restrictions set out below:

• the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must 
be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, 
must be limited to such shares or rights that are convertible 
into a class already in issue;

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)

(Registration Number: 119492 C1/GBL)

ISIN: MU0422N00009

SEM share code: ALPL.N0000

JSE share code: ALP

(“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited will be 
held on Friday, 12 June 2015 at 11h00 Mauritian Time (09h00 South African time) at Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, 
Ebène 72201, Mauritius, for the purpose of presenting the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2015, 
together with the reports of the directors and the Independent Auditor, and transacting the following business:

As ordinary business, to consider 
and, if deemed fit, resolve 
the following:

RESOLUTION NUMBER 1:
THAT the audited financial statements of the Company and the 
notes thereto for the year ended 28 February 2015 (a copy of 
which is attached hereto) be received and adopted;

RESOLUTION NUMBERS 2.1 – 2.7:
THAT the following directors, who accordingly retire and offer 
themselves for re-election in accordance with section 12.4.2 
of the Company’s Constitution, be re-elected each by way of 
a separate vote:

2.1 Mr Paul Stanbrook Leaf-Wright;

2.2 Mr Warren Peter Morton;

2.3 Mr Peter Douglas St. John Bacon;

2.4 Mr Dudley Nicholas Good Winearls;

2.5 Ms Cleopatra Liana Folkes;

2.6 Mr Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin; and

2.7 Mr Kesaven Moothoosamy.

RESOLUTION NUMBER 3:
THAT Mazars, the independent auditor of the Company with 
Mr Udaysingh Taukoordass currently being the designated audit 
partner, be re-appointed until the conclusion of the Company’s 
next Annual General Meeting.

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4:
THAT the Board of Directors be authorised to determine the 
remuneration of the independent auditor;
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RESOLUTION NUMBER 7 CONTINUED:
• the total aggregate number of shares which may be issued for 

cash in terms of this authority may not exceed 100 000 000 
shares (being 294% of the issued share capital at the date of 
this notice of Annual General Meeting). Accordingly, any 
shares issued under this authority prior to this authority 
lapsing shall be deducted from the 100 000 000 shares the 
Company is authorised to issue in terms of this authority for 
the purpose of determining the remaining number of shares 
that may be issued in terms of this authority; and

• the price at which the shares may be issued shall be no less 
than the most recently published net asset value per share of 
the Company prior to the date that the price of the issue is 
agreed between the Company and the party(ies) subscribing 
for the shares.

Resolution 1 to 6 will require the support of more than 50% of 
the total votes exercisable by members of the Company, present 
in person or by proxy to pass the resolutions.

Resolution 7 will require the support of more than 75% of the 
total votes exercisable by members of the Company, present 
in person or by proxy to pass the resolutions.

The Directors consider that the passing of Resolutions 1 to 7 is 
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a 
whole, and accordingly recommend that you vote in favour of all 
the resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Key dates and times for the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders:

Key events Date

Distribution of Annual Report and Notice of 
Annual General Meeting 21 May 2015

Record date to be recorded in the register 
in order to be entitled to vote at the 
Annual General Meeting 5 June 2015

Last day to lodge forms of proxy for the 
Annual General Meeting by 11h00 
Mauritian time (09h00 South African time) 11 June 2015

Annual General Meeting at 11h00 
Mauritian time (09h00 South African time) 12 June 2015

Instructions for members holding shares in certificated 
form or dematerialised form in “own name”

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any member 
of the Company holding certificated shares who cannot or does 
not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting but who wishes 
to be represented thereat. Forms of proxy may also be obtained 
on request from the Company’s registered office. 

Members of the Company holding shares in certificated form 
or dematerialised form in “own name” may elect to:

• attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting; or 
alternatively

• may appoint an individual as a proxy (who need not also be 
a member of the Company) to attend, participate in, speak 
and vote in your stead at the Annual General Meeting by 
completing the attached form of proxy and returning it to 
the addresses below, to be received by no later than 11h00 
Mauritian time (09h00 South African time) on Thursday, 
11 June 2015: 

For shareholders 
holding shares
on the Mauritian 
sub-register:

The Company Secretary
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène
72201
Mauritius
Fax: +230 403 0801
Email: alpl@intercontinentaltrust.com

For shareholders 
holding shares
on the South African 
sub-register:

Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
2001
South Africa

Or by post to:
Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107

Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to the chairman 
of the Annual General Meeting at the Annual General Meeting 
or at any time prior to the commencement of the Annual 
General Meeting. Please note that your proxy may delegate
his/her authority to act on your behalf to another person, 
subject to the restrictions set out in the attached form of proxy.
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Please note that the completed form of proxy must be delivered 
to the addresses above or handed to the chairman of the 
Annual General Meeting prior to the dates and times indicated, 
before your proxy may exercise any of your rights as a member 
of the Company at the Annual General Meeting.

Please note that any member of the Company that is a 
company may authorise any person to act as its representative 
at the Annual General Meeting.

Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy 
will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at the 
Annual General Meeting should the shareholder subsequently 
decide to do so.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS HOLDING SHARES 
IN CERTIFICATED FORM OR DEMATERIALISED 
FORM NOT HELD IN “OWN NAME”
Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised shares 
held through a Central Securities Depository Participant 
(“CSDP”), the Central Depository and Settlement Company 
Limited (“CDS”) or broker (or their nominee) and are not 
registered as an “own name” dematerialised shareholder, then 
you are not a registered shareholder of the Company, but your 
CSDP, CDS or broker (or their nominee) would be.

Accordingly, in these circumstances, and subject to the mandate 
between yourself and your CSDP, CDS or broker as the case 
may be:

• if you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting you must 
contact your CSDP, CDS or broker, and obtain the relevant 
letter of representation from it; alternatively

• if you are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting but 
wish to be represented at the Annual General Meeting, you 
must contact your CSDP, CDS or broker, and furnish it with 
your voting instructions in respect of the Annual General 
Meeting and/or request it to appoint a proxy. You must not 
complete the attached form of proxy. The instructions must 
be provided in accordance with the mandate between 
yourself and your CSDP, CDS or broker, within the time 
period required by your CSDP, CDS or broker.

CSDPs, CDS or brokers or their nominees, as the case may 
be, recorded in the Company’s sub-register as holders of 
dematerialised shares should, when authorised in terms of their 
mandate or instructed to do so by the owner on behalf of whom 
they hold dematerialised shares, vote by either appointing a duly 
authorised representative to attend and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting or by completing the attached form of proxy 
in accordance with the instructions thereon and return it to the 
addresses below, to be received by no later than 11h00 Mauritian 
time (09h00 South African time) on Thursday, 11 June 2015:

For shareholders 
holding shares
on the Mauritian 
sub-register:

The Company Secretary
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène
72201
Mauritius
Fax: +230 403 0801
Email: alpl@intercontinentaltrust.com

For shareholders 
holding shares
on the South African 
sub-register:

Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
2001
South Africa

Or by post to:
Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107

Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to the chairman 
of the Annual General Meeting at the Annual General Meeting 
at any time prior to the commencement of the Annual 
General Meeting.

VOTING AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
In order to more effectively record the votes and give effect to 
the intentions of members, voting on all resolutions will be 
conducted by way of a poll.

By order of the Board

Intercontinental Trust Ltd
Company Secretary 

Mauritius

21 May 2015

Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders continued



CORPORATE INFORMATION

Registered office of the Company
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

Bankers
Barclays Bank Mauritius Limited
1st Floor, Barclays House
68-68A Cybercity
Ebène
Mauritius
Business registration number: C10068913

First National Bank
RMB Corporate Banking – Cape Town
25th Floor Portside,
5 Buitengracht Steet,
Cape Town, 8001,
South Africa
(PO Box 911, Cape Town, 8000)

Auditors
Mazars Mauritius
(Registration number MFA 0630002)
Manor House
30 St Georges Street
Port Louis
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

Mauritian Company Administrator
Intercontinental Trust Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

Company Secretary
Intercontinental Trust Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

SEM Sponsor
Capital Market Brokers
Suite 1004, Level 1 Alexander House, 
35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

JSE Sponsor
Java Capital (Proprietary) Limited
6A Sandown Valley Crescent,
Sandown, Sandton, Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
(PO Box 2087, Parklands, 2121)

Corporate advisor and legal 
advisor as to Mauritian law
C&A Law (Registered as a Law Firm in Mauritius)
Suite 1005, Level 1, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)
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